

Germany



The Heart Failure Policy Network is an independent, multidisciplinary platform made possible with financial support from Novartis Pharma, AstraZeneca and Vifor Pharma. The content produced by the Network is not biased to any specific treatment or therapy. All outputs are guided and endorsed by the Network's members. All members provide their time for free.



The Heart Failure Policy Network



November 2020

About the Heart Failure Policy Network

The Heart Failure Policy Network (HFPN) is an independent, multidisciplinary network of healthcare professionals, advocacy groups, policymakers and other stakeholders from across Europe. It was established in 2015 with the goal of raising awareness of unmet needs and seeking meaningful improvements in heart failure policy and care. Our aim is to help reduce the burden of heart failure – on people living with it, those supporting them, health systems and society at large. All members of the HFPN provide their time for free. All Network content is non-promotional and non-commercial. The Secretariat is provided by The Health Policy Partnership Ltd, an independent health policy consultancy based in London, UK.

Acknowledgements

This report is based on desk research undertaken in 2020 and interviews with experts who provided insights as to the national context. Research, coordination, drafting, expert interviews and member consultations were led by Marissa Mes, Sara C Marques and Ed Harding, with research assistance from Emily Kell. The report was edited by Madeleine Murphy and Kasia Trojanowska, and designed by Catarina Correia Marques

The HFPN would like to thank the following experts for supporting the development of this country profile:

- ► Klaus Edel, Cardiologist; Director, Clinic for Rehabilitation and Prevention, Centre for Cardiovascular Diseases, Rotenburg an der Fulda
- Winfried Klausnitzer, Founder and Board Member, Herzschwäche Franken e.V.
- ► Gabriele Meyer, Heart Failure Nurse, South Nuremberg Hospital; Board Member, Herzschwäche Franken e.V.
- Stefan Störk, Cardiologist; Professor and Head of Department of Clinical Research and Epidemiology, Comprehensive Heart Failure Centre, University Würzburg and University Hospital Würzburg

We would also like to thank the Project Advisory Group for *Heart failure policy and practice in Europe*. For a list of members, please see **www.hfpolicynetwork.org/project/heart-failure-policyand-practice-in-europe/**

Please cite this report as: Heart Failure Policy Network. 2020. *Heart failure policy and practice in Europe: Germany.* London: HFPN



Contents

About Heart failure policy and practice in Europe	5
Heart failure in Germany	6
Heart failure policy in Germany	8
Formal plans on HF	8
Investment in integrated HF models and facilitative tools	8
Development of the HF healthcare workforce	10
Guidance and local care pathways for delivery of quality care	10
Public audits of performance and high-level assessment initiatives	11
Heart failure practice in Germany	12
Diagnosis	12
Hospital care and discharge	13
Key components of quality care in community settings	14
Tools and methods to support multidisciplinary and integrated ongoing HF care	15
The way forward	17
References	20

4 // Heart failure policy and practice in **Germany**



About Heart failure policy and practice in Europe

Heart failure (HF) is a common and complex condition responsible for extensive avoidable morbidity, mortality and healthcare costs. There is a clear need to advance HF policy and practice across Europe, and this requires recognition of the real challenge in each country.

To this end, the Heart Failure Policy Network (HFPN) has developed *Heart failure policy and practice in Europe* – a comprehensive analysis of key gaps and best practice both in HF policy and in clinical performance across 11 European countries. In this work, we investigate each country's progress in addressing the HF challenge, for example in terms of the existence and implementation of HF policies and the provision of multidisciplinary and integrated HF care. Findings are presented in an overarching report, which outlines the methodology for this work and includes a pan-European narrative, and in standalone country profiles with dedicated national-level analysis.

Urgent action is needed to address the growing burden of HF and ensure the sustainability of our healthcare systems. This country profile aims to assist HF advocates across Germany in engaging healthcare system leaders to demand constructive changes to HF policy and care provision, to reduce the impact of HF on people living with the syndrome, their families and carers, the healthcare system and society.

Heart failure in Germany

SUMMARY

The burden of heart failure (HF) in Germany is high, both in terms of pressures on the healthcare system and in terms of impact on people with HF and their families.¹⁻⁴ Some of this burden is preventable – in 2012, there were an estimated 246,000 preventable hospitalisations for HF.⁵ During the COVID-19 pandemic, emergency admissions and interventional treatments for HF have fallen dramatically,⁶ and this may have long-term implications for people living with the syndrome.

The burden of HF has yet to be widely recognised by policymakers, sickness funds (insurance organisations) and the public.⁷ While the statutory health insurance approved a formal Disease Management Programme for HF in 2018, progress has stalled.⁷ ⁸ The lack of appropriate reimbursement policies has restricted the benefits offered by HF specialist nurses on care quality and outcomes.⁹

Centres of excellence are leading the way in terms of multidisciplinary and integrated care,¹⁰ but management of HF is typically fragmented in mainstream settings. Improvements are urgently needed in diagnosis,⁷⁹ hospital care and discharge,^{11 12} and community care, including therapeutic education and cardiac rehabilitation programmes.^{13 14} This will help to ensure equitable access to high-quality care and better outcomes for people living with HF.

HF is a common syndrome, with some regions particularly affected

Between 4% and 6% of people in Germany live with HF.¹⁵¹⁶ Prevalence varies significantly between regions. In 2017, it was estimated to range from 3% in Rhineland-Palatinate to 12% in Bavaria, with more cases noted in rural communities and areas of high social deprivation.¹⁶

The true incidence and prevalence of HF in Germany may be higher than suggested by available estimates. National studies of HF typically rely on health insurance claims, which may underestimate the true burden of the syndrome by up to 55% due to issues with data collection and quality.¹⁷



While there are no recent estimates of HF incidence in the literature, the number of new cases per year was estimated at 524,000 in 2011.¹⁵ This is likely to have increased, as prevalence of HF has risen across Europe in recent decades, mostly due to ageing populations and improved survival rates for cardiovascular and other long-term conditions.¹⁸

HF is associated with high expenditure

HF is responsible for significant costs in Germany. In 2012, direct costs were estimated at more than USD \$5.3 billion (approximately €4.1 billion).² In the same year, HF-related indirect costs were estimated at USD \$2 billion (approximately €1.6 billion).



new HF cases per year



direct costs of HF

Patient outcomes are often poor, with frequent hospitalisation and high mortality

People living with HF have been reported to be at higher risk of depression than the general population.¹⁹ HF is also linked with frequent and lengthy hospitalisation. It is the leading cause of hospitalisation in Germany:¹⁷ in 2017 HF accounted for 464,000 hospital admissions.³ The World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe identified HF as a major contributor to preventable hospitalisation in Germany, with an estimated 246,000 preventable hospitalisations in 2012.⁵ Recent data from a large hospital network suggest that emergency admissions for HF declined by 22–28% during the COVID-19 pandemic, following a trend seen in other cardiac interventions.⁶ This is concerning, as it may have a long-term impact on people living with HF.

HF is the third most common cardiovascular cause of death in Germany, after coronary artery disease and heart attack. In 2018, it accounted for almost 38,000 deaths – approximately 11% of deaths nationwide.⁴ In-hospital mortality of people with HF is high, estimated at 9.5% between 2005 and 2016.²⁰



Heart failure policy in Germany

Formal plans on HF

Germany has no national HF strategy

National authorities are yet to devote strategic focus to HF and cardiovascular disease more widely.²¹ This is of concern, as a coordinated response at the national level is particularly important in Germany due to the high number of stakeholders involved in organisation of healthcare.²²

Since 2000, the Federal Ministry of Health and the Association for Social Security and Policy Research have addressed aspects of health promotion and care in national health targets – plans that outline strategic objectives for key stakeholders in the healthcare system.²³ Individual health targets cover a number of topics including type 2 diabetes, breast cancer and smoking cessation. They are yet to be developed for HF or cardiovascular diseases more broadly,²¹ potentially due to limited awareness among decision-makers of the challenges they represent.⁷

Investment in integrated HF models and facilitative tools

HF diagnostic tests are reimbursed, but current policies may not encourage their use

National experts report that essential tests to diagnose HF, including echocardiography and natriuretic peptide (NP) testing, are typically reimbursed across care settings.⁷ However, some policy barriers may prevent the use of NP testing in primary care settings. Experts suggest that reimbursement may be too low to encourage NP testing, general practitioners (GPs) who request the test may see their income effectively reduced due to perverse incentives, or the cost of acquiring and maintaining the testing equipment may pose a barrier even when reimbursement is adequate.⁷



Progress has stalled on a national Disease Management Programme for HF

Policymakers approved a national Disease Management Programme (DMP) for HF in 2018 following calls from experts,²⁴⁻²⁶ but it has yet to be implemented.⁷⁸ It was designed as a multidisciplinary care programme covered by the public health system (statutory health insurance),²⁷ which would support the national implementation of integrated HF care. The DMP aims to enhance patients' quality of life, reduce the overall burden of HF on people and healthcare systems, and improve management of co-existing health conditions (comorbidities).²⁶

Experts have suggested that the most critical barrier to implementation of the DMP is disagreement over its content. For example, experts had called for the DMP to cover all people with HF regardless of HF type, but the approved DMP focuses solely on HF with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF).²⁷ In addition, it does not outline the responsibilities of members of the HF care team at each moment in the care journey, nor options to tailor care based on patient needs and preferences.^{7 28} The DMP recommends GPs as care leaders, as is standard practice for other DMPs, but the complexity of HF calls for close collaboration between GPs and cardiologists in joint management of HF, as highlighted by national experts and in guidelines.^{7 29}

Inadequate information technology infrastructure hinders integration of care

Limited interoperability of information technology (IT) systems in Germany is a challenge. Systems typically differ between healthcare settings and medical information is often only accessible to different healthcare professionals when a direct referral is made between care settings.¹¹ National experts report that the integration of HF care remains difficult because an IT platform that incorporates the country's many systems and applications has yet to be developed.⁷

Development of the HF healthcare workforce

HF specialist roles are formally recognised, but there is a need for further investment in the HF workforce

In Germany, cardiology is a sub-specialty of internal medicine; internists pursue an additional two years of education to become cardiologists.³⁰ Continuing medical education in HF is provided by the German Cardiac Society (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Kardiologie) in the form of basic and advanced courses open to physicians and nurses with an interest in HF.³¹

The role of HF specialist nurses is recognised and accreditation is obtained following successful completion of a training course.⁹ The courses are open to nurses with at least three years of clinical experience in cardiovascular disease, and are offered annually by the German Society of Health and Nursing Science in Essen

and the Comprehensive Heart Failure Centre in Würzburg.^{32 33} The programme in Essen combines 100 hours of face-to-face learning with an estimated 300 hours of self-study and coursework, while the programme in Würzburg consists of 120 hours of teaching and 80 hours of practical education.^{33 34} A total of 41 nurses attended these courses in 2016/17, and 52 nurses registered in the following year.³⁴

Despite recognition of the role, the full potential of HF specialist nurses is hindered by a lack of funding. National experts report that the HF nurse role is not covered by the public health system and, owing to the national shortage of nurses, hospitals typically fund these roles only if they include part-time work in other clinical departments.⁹ In addition, nurses trained in HF may not continue working in the field because the local organisation of care does not always support this role.⁷

Guidance and local care pathways for delivery of quality care

A national HF guideline outlines multidisciplinary recommendations, implementation strategies and patient information

The National Healthcare Guidelines (Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinien) combine clinical recommendations in one guidance document for all healthcare professionals.³⁵ The guideline on HF presents a multidisciplinary consensus among healthcare professionals and people living with HF based on the national context and international guidelines, such as those from the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the American Heart Association.²⁹ The HF guideline not only makes clinical recommendations but also covers their implementation. The first edition was launched in 2009,³⁶ and the latest version, published in 2019, outlines recommendations for all care settings.²⁹ It describes the role of different members of the HF care team, including cardiologists, GPs and nurses, as well as pharmacists and palliative care professionals.

National Healthcare Guidelines are reviewed every five years and include a Patient Guideline that offers accessible information for patients and their families or carers.^{37 38}

Comprehensive HF networks support integrated care

The German Cardiac Society has introduced a system of best-practice accreditation to support the integration of HF care (see *Case study 1*).



CASE STUDY 1.

Comprehensive HF networks to support integrated care

In 2016, the German Cardiac Society launched the HF-NET programme to link hospital and outpatient HF services through a system of accreditation.²⁵ To join the programme, healthcare providers must apply to the Society for accreditation as:

- an HF practice (typically an outpatient HF service led by cardiologists)
- an HF hospital (typically a local or district hospital with a multidisciplinary HF team)
- an HF supra-regional centre (typically an academic hospital equipped to care for complex or advanced HF).³⁹

Accredited centres in the same region are connected within an HF network (HF-NET) through the implementation of care pathways and standard operating procedures.³⁹ Accreditation is renewed every three to five years.

As of October 2020, the HF-NET programme has accredited 51 HF practices, 42 HF hospitals and 34 HF supra-regional centres.⁴⁰ Notable challenges for the programme have included the recruitment of sufficient HF practices to expand the coverage of HF-NETs, and the implementation of standardised protocols and IT systems to support multidisciplinary and integrated ongoing care.⁷

Public audits of performance and high-level assessment initiatives

Hospitals publish basic data on HF, but deeper benchmarking of outcomes and a coordinated national HF audit are lacking

There is no national registry of HF care services able to provide a comprehensive analysis of performance and patient outcomes. Direct comparison between hospitals is only possible based on the number of HF cases seen each year. Hospitals are required to publish performance reports based on a standardised set of indicators,⁴¹ but to date, this set does not include HF outcomes. Performance reporting is not mandatory in other settings, but credible voluntary schemes exist. The Institute of Applied Quality Improvement and Research has published a set of quality indicators for primary care and other ambulatory settings.^{42 43} There are 12 indicators for HF covering a wide range of criteria for suspected and diagnosed HF, including diagnostic testing, regular follow-up and monitoring, evidence-based treatment and management of comorbidities.

12 // Heart failure policy and practice in Germany



Heart failure practice in Germany

Diagnosis

Diagnosis of HF is delayed due to limited awareness of HF, suboptimal use of diagnostic tests and long waiting times for specialist appointments

National experts report that limited public awareness of HF often leads people to dismiss their symptoms and not seek medical attention, while limited professional awareness contributes to delays in referral for specialist-led diagnosis.⁷⁹ Early detection of HF is also complicated by the typically older age of people showing HF signs and symptoms, which resemble those of other conditions or natural signs of ageing.⁸ Local and regional initiatives led by healthcare professionals aim to support early detection of HF (see *Case study 2*), but national efforts to address the challenge are limited.

Insufficient use of diagnostic tests and long waiting times for specialist appointments frequently delay diagnosis of HF, according to national experts.⁷⁹ Despite the fact that NP testing is usually reimbursed in primary care settings, it is not consistently used by GPs, partially due to inadequate incentivisation. In addition, only about half of all people with suspected HF identified in primary care are seen by a cardiologist within two years.⁷ The number of cardiologists varies considerably across Germany, meaning that waiting times for a specialist appointment can range anywhere from three to eight months.⁸⁹ These waiting times may frustrate or discourage GPs, potentially acting as a barrier to GPs making specialist referrals.⁷



CASE STUDY 2. Empowering people with symptoms of HF to seek medical attention

A team of cardiologists in Rotenburg an der Fulda developed the German Heart Failure Test (Deutscher Herzinsuffizienz-Test, DeHiT) to empower people with symptoms of HF to pursue a diagnosis.⁴⁴ The questionnaire includes 12 questions on the presence of common HF risk factors and symptoms, including breathlessness, high blood pressure, extreme fatigue, fluid retention, swelling and heart palpitations. The questions help people determine whether HF is unlikely, possible or probable, and guide them in their decision to seek medical attention.⁴⁴

The DeHiT is not a clinical decision-making tool or replacement for medical advice, but aims to empower people with HF signs and symptoms to seek help and receive a timely diagnosis. The questionnaire is available online⁴⁵ and as a smartphone application.⁴⁶

Hospital care and discharge

There is significant national variation in the management of acute HF

While some hospitals have HF units with specialist cardiologists and nurses, this is not standard practice across Germany.⁷⁸ People hospitalised with acute HF may be seen by professionals with limited experience in HF, which can have a negative impact on care and outcomes.⁴⁷ In contrast, centres of excellence offer multidisciplinary care led by HF specialist cardiologists and nurses, often supported by additional funding secured through research grants or government programmes.¹⁰

Hospitals are required to offer structured discharge planning to all patients, including those with HF.^{12 48} However, national experts report that in practice, post-discharge care often remains fragmented with insufficient communication across settings.⁸ This may be due partly to the national process for data sharing, which requires that people being discharged give written consent to participate in discharge planning programmes.¹² If consent is not secured, essential information (such as medical history, treatment plan and laboratory test results) is not transferred to primary care professionals, which may hinder HF care in the community.

Key components of quality care in community settings

Continuity of care is common in community settings, but time constraints may affect the quality of care for HF

Historical health insurance data suggest that people living with HF tend to experience a high level of continuity of care in community settings,^{11 15} and national experts confirm that this is still the case today.¹³ Insurance claims from 2009 and 2013 show that most people living with HF had a follow-up appointment in ambulatory care at least once every quarter in the two years following diagnosis.¹⁵ While more recent data are unavailable, this level of continuity is encouraging. However, national experts report that GPs typically have a heavy workload and limited time for consultations, and that this may affect the adjustment of HF medication and the quality of care provided.⁷⁸

Cardiac rehabilitation is not consistently provided for people with HF

Cardiac rehabilitation programmes for HF are hospital-based and implementation is low.⁸¹⁴ In 2011, people living with HF made up only 2% of those referred for cardiac rehabilitation, while heart attacks and coronary artery disease accounted for 61% and 20%, respectively. Some centres of excellence specialise in cardiac rehabilitation for HF,⁴⁹ but other care settings tend to lack tailored programmes.⁸

Patient empowerment and therapeutic education are not standard practice in HF care

Self-care support for people living with HF is lacking in community settings.⁹ To fill this gap, patient organisations have collaborated with hospitals to set up HF support groups in the community (see *Case study 3*). However, the demand for these support groups far outweighs their capacity.¹³ The cost of implementing support groups and educational sessions has been identified as a potential barrier to patient empowerment and therapeutic education; the lack of reimbursement by the public health system means the cost falls solely on hospitals.



CASE STUDY 3.

Empowering and educating people living with HF through monthly meetings of patient support groups

Herzschwäche Franken e.V, the national HF patient organisation, holds monthly meetings of support groups for people living with HF, in collaboration with hospitals in Nuremberg, Roth and Rotenburg an der Fulda. Sessions are led by an HF specialist, often a nurse or cardiologist, and cover essential self-care topics such as dietary restrictions, sexual health and travelling.^{9 13} Each session is followed by an hour of peer support and socialising. Attendance ranges from 10 to 50 people per meeting.¹³

A lack of clarity on the benefits and delivery of palliative care hinders its provision for people with HF

The public health system covers advance care planning and palliative care for most health conditions,⁵⁰ but there are several barriers to implementation of these elements of care in HF. Healthcare professionals report differing views on who should lead palliative care and when it should be initiated. Some may feel hesitant about initiating palliative care because they view it as failure of their treatment approach.⁵⁰ Others report that people living with HF and their families/carers do not fully understand the severity and prognosis of HF, and may view palliative care as 'a form of euthanasia'.⁵¹ The absence of a clear structure for multidisciplinary collaboration in palliative care contributes to this lack of consensus and the limited provision of palliative services.⁵⁰

Tools and methods to support multidisciplinary and integrated ongoing HF care

Centres of excellence offer various tools and methods to encourage multidisciplinary HF care, which are largely unavailable in other settings

Overall, the implementation of tools and working methods that can promote multidisciplinary and integrated HF care has been inconsistent – even in centres in the HF-NET programme. In theory, these centres are required to have standardised and integrated protocols for HF management,³⁹ but experts report that this is not consistent practice.⁷

Successful models of integrated care can be found in selected regions and centres of excellence (see *Case study 4*). Wider roll-out of these models could offer significant benefits. For example, a trial of a remote monitoring system for HF, which enabled information sharing and communication between GPs and cardiologists, demonstrated benefits in terms of hospitalisation and all-cause mortality among people with HF with reduced ejection fraction.⁵² These findings became the basis for Telemed5000 – a programme funded by the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy that aims to increase the capacity of telemedicine services for HF using artificial intelligence.⁵³ Telemedicine approaches are increasingly being explored as supplements to HF care provided by GPs and cardiologists and to address regional variation in care.⁵⁴

CASE STUDY 4.

Comprehensive Heart Failure Centre

The Comprehensive Heart Failure Centre at Würzburg University was founded by physicians and scientists to implement novel approaches to HF research and care.¹⁰ It is a leading centre of excellence that houses research groups, clinical and animal imaging, experimental laboratories and outpatient care facilities.

The Centre focuses on multidisciplinary collaboration, communication and education.¹⁰ In addition to a strong research component, resident cardiologists collaborate with specialists in different fields to provide optimal care. The centre offers training in HF for nurses and junior physicians, and supports public outreach initiatives to improve awareness of the syndrome.^{10 55}

The outpatient clinic at the Centre specialises in supporting people with complex HF from across the region. $^{\rm 56}$



The way forward

HF poses a challenge to the sustainability of healthcare systems in countries across Europe, including Germany. It is a manageable – and often preventable – syndrome, yet it continues to affect a great number of people and its burden on the national health system and society is significant.

Programmes to address the growing burden of HF have been initiated, but progress has stalled and there is an urgent need to overcome inertia among policymakers, healthcare professionals and sickness funds.

SEVERAL ACTIONS ARE ESSENTIAL TO ADDRESS THIS CHALLENGE.

Increase awareness of HF among the public, healthcare professionals and decision-makers

Understanding of HF must be improved at all levels to overcome the inertia that currently surrounds it. Awareness campaigns aimed at the public may encourage people to see a healthcare professional as soon as they start experiencing signs and symptoms of HF. Professional societies can also support healthcare workers to expand their knowledge of the correct identification of the signs and symptoms of HF, and the accurate use and interpretation of diagnostic tests, via training opportunities. Targeted messaging for decision-makers is important to raise awareness of the challenge HF poses and drive the development of a coherent and robust national strategy.

Improve HF diagnosis through increased use of NP testing in primary care

Improving diagnosis of HF is a crucial step in a coherent response to the HF challenge. For this to happen, it is essential for primary care professionals to consistently use NP testing to prioritise referrals for specialist-led echocardiography. This will likely reduce waiting lists for specialist examinations and appointments. Professional bodies, particularly primary care societies, can also support the accurate use and interpretation of diagnostic tests for HF via training opportunities.

Amend and implement the DMP for HF, encourage participation in HF-NETs and ensure communication between the two initiatives

National guidelines recognise that HF is complex and therefore care must be multidisciplinary, integrated and flexible.²⁹ The DMP should better reflect this – it should include tailored pathways based on patient needs and preferences, comprehensive provision of cardiac rehabilitation, and joint management of HF by GPs and cardiologists. Regional governments and sickness funds should encourage or incentivise participation in HF-NETs to support accreditation of centres prepared to manage HF and ensure communication across care settings. The DMP and HF-NETs should be seen as complementary, as people with stable chronic HF can be enrolled in the DMP, while people with more complex or advanced HF can be managed within an HF-NET.⁷

Fund full-time HF specialist nurses to support patient-centred care

The benefits of nurse-led HF management and of involving multidisciplinary teams in HF care have been widely demonstrated in national research.^{57 58} Regional governments and sickness funds must acknowledge this and cover the cost of HF specialist nurses working full time to meet growing demand and reduce the financial burden on hospitals. Full-time HF nurses will be able to improve care quality and patient outcomes by focusing on patient empowerment and therapeutic education, and coordinating care across hospital and community settings.

Develop a national HF registry or audit to allow for performance assessment and enable clear oversight of HF care

It is essential to regularly assess HF data to establish an accurate picture of performance and variation in care. This will help to identify gaps and best-practice approaches that may benefit from wider roll-out. Incorporating a short set of quality indicators for HF care into the hospital performance reports will enable benchmarking between centres and support a deeper understanding of regional variations in care.



Focusing on these priority areas will likely offer a cost-effective opportunity to improve life for people with HF, reduce hospitalisations and mitigate future pressures.

This is an investment in a more resilient and prepared health system, not just for HF but for chronic diseases more generally.

The creation and maintenance of national strategies and plans in HF is likely to be vital to long-term success. There are many strengths and existing resources within the healthcare system on which to build. Lasting success will require effective central oversight of inequalities and unacceptable variations, as well as long-term collaboration and commitment from decision-makers, patient representatives, healthcare professionals and the private sector. Failure to pursue the actions recommended in this report will allow HF to continue to challenge the sustainability of the healthcare system in Germany.

References

- 1. Christ M, Störk S, Dörr M, et al. 2016. Heart failure 14. Benzer W, Rauch B, Schmid J-P, et al. 2017. epidemiology 2000-2013: insights from the German Federal Health Monitoring System. Eur J Heart Fail 18(8): 1009-18
- 2. Cook C, Cole G, Asaria P, et al. 2014. The annual global economic burden of heart failure. Int J Cardiol 171(3): 368-76
- 3. Dörr M, Riemer U, Christ M, et al. 2020. Hospitalizations due to heart failure: major differences between East and West Germany remaining even 30 years after reunification. HFA Discoveries - ePosters; 01/07/20; Virtual
- 4. Statistisches Bundesamt. 2018. Causes of death - deaths caused by the 10 most frequent cardiovascular diseases. [Updated 08/10/19]. Available from: https://www.destatis.de/EN/ Themes/Society-Environment/Health/Causes-Death/Tables/deaths-cardiovascular-diseasetotal.html [Accessed 01/07/20]
- 5. WHO Regional Office for Europe. 2015. Ambulatory care sensitive conditions in Germany. Copenhagen: World Health Organization
- 6. Bollmann A, Hohenstein S, Meier-Hellmann A, et al. 2020. Emergency hospital admissions and interventional treatments for heart failure and cardiac arrhythmias in Germany during the Covid-19 outbreak: insights from the Germanwide Helios hospital network. Eur Heart J Qual Care Clin Outcomes 6(3): 221-22
- 7. Störk S. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Sara C Marques at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 21/08/20
- 8. Edel K. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for the Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 06/08/20
- 9. Meyer G. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes and Stephanie Whelan at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for the Heart Failure Policy Network) [Telephone]. 13/08/20
- 10. Angermann CE, Frantz S, Maack C. 2018. The Comprehensive Heart Failure Centre in Würzburg, Germany. Eur Heart J 39(20): 1757-60
- 11. Vogt V, Koller D, Sundmacher L. 2016. Continuity of care in the ambulatory sector and hospital admissions among patients with heart failure in Germany. Eur J Public Health 26(4): 555-61
- 12. GKV-Spitzenverband. Entlassmanagement. Available from: https://www.gkv-spitzenverband. de/krankenversicherung/ambulant_ stationaere_versorgung/entlassmanagement/ entlassmanagement.jsp [Accessed 07/07/20]
- 13. Klausnitzer W. 2020. Interview with Marissa Mes at The Health Policy Partnership (Secretariat for Heart Failure Policy Network) [videoconference]. 21/08/20

- Exercise-based cardiac rehabilitation in twelve European countries results of the European cardiac rehabilitation registry. Int J Cardiol 228: 58-67
- 15. Störk S, Handrock R, Jacob J, et al. 2017. Epidemiology of heart failure in Germany: a retrospective database study. Clin Res Cardiol 106(11): 913-22
- 16. Holstiege J, Akmatov MK, Störk S, et al. 2019. Higher prevalence of heart failure in rural regions: a population-based study covering 87% of German inhabitants. Clin Res Cardiol 108(10): 1102-06
- 17. Kaspar M, Fette G, Güder G, et al. 2018. Underestimated prevalence of heart failure in hospital inpatients: a comparison of ICD codes and discharge letter information. Clin Res Cardiol 107(9): 778-87
- 18. Cowie MR, Anker SD, Cleland JGF, et al. 2014. Improving care for patients with acute heart failure: before, during and after hospitalization. ESC Heart Fail 1(2): 110-45
- 19. Konrad M, Bohlken J, Rapp MA, et al. 2016. Depression risk in patients with heart failure in primary care practices in Germany. Int Psychogeriatr 28(11): 1889-94
- 20. Keller K, Hobohm L, Ostad MA, et al. Temporal trends and predictors of inhospital death in patients hospitalised for heart failure in Germany. Eur J Prevent Cardiol: 10.1177/2047487320936020
- 21. Gesellschaft für Versicherungswissenschaft und -gestaltung e.V. National Health Targets. Available from: https://health-targets.de/ national_health_targets [Accessed 15/06/20]
- 22. Busse R, Blümel M. 2014. Germany health system review. Copenhagen: European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies
- 23. Gesellschaft für Versicherungswissenschaft und -gestaltung e.V. What is health-targets.de? Available from: https://health-targets.de/what_ is_health-targets [Accessed 15/06/20]
- 24. Angermann C. 2016. Aus Sicht der Fachgesellschaft: Disease-Management-Programm (DMP) Herzinsuffizienz. Gesellschaftspolitische Kommentare 1(16): 15-18
- 25. Ertl G, Angermann CE, Bekeredjian R, et al. 2016. Aufbau und Organisation von Herzinsuffizienz-Netzwerken (HF-NETs) und Herzinsuffizienz-Einheiten ("Heart Failure Units", HFUs) zur Optimierung der Behandlung der akuten und chronischen Herzinsuffizienz. Der Kardiologe 10(4): 222-35
- 26. Gemeinsame Bundesausschuss. 2018. Strukturierte Behandlung der Herzinsuffizienz künftig in eigenständigem Disease-Management-Programm. Available from: https:// www.g-ba.de/presse/pressemitteilungen/746/ [Accessed 12/06/20]



- 27. Gemeinsame Bundesausschuss. 2020. Richtlinie 38. Ärztlicher zentrum für qualität der medizin. des Gemeinsamen Bundesausschusses zur Zusammenführung der Anforderungen an strukturierte Behandlungsprogramme nach § 137f Absatz 2 SGB V (DMP-Anforderungen-Richtlinie/DMP-A-RL). Berlin: G-BA
- 28. Silber S. 2019. DMP "Chronische Herzinsuffizienz" – Ziele und Limitationen. MMW - Fortschritte der Medizin 161(16): 40-44
- 29. Bundesärztekammer (BÄK), Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung (KBV), (AWMF). AdW-cMF. 2019. Nationale VersorgungsLeitlinie Chronische Herzinsuffizienz – Langfassung, 3. Auflage. Berlin: Ärztliches Zentrum für Qualität in der Medizin
- 30. Sonntag F. Cardiology practice in Germany. Available from: https://www.escardio.org/ Councils/Council-for-Cardiology-Practice-(CCP)/ Private-Practice-in-your-country/Germany [Accessed 15/06/20]
- 31. DGK Akademie. 2020. Aufbaukurs Herzinsuffizienz. Available from: https:// akademie.dgk.org/veranstaltung/37199/ [Accessed 15/06/20]
- 32. Universitätsklinikum Würzburg. Fortbildungen für Pflegekräfte und Medizinische Fachangestellte (MFA). Available from: https://www.ukw.de/ behandlungszentren/dzhi/lehre-und-fortbildung/ fortbildungen/ [Accessed 15/07/20]
- 33. Deutsche Gesellschaft für Gesundheits- und Pflegewissenschaft mbH. Weiterbildung Pflegeexperte für Menschen mit Herzinsuffizienz. Available from: https://dggp-online.de/ weiterbildungen/pflege/pflegeexperte-fuermenschen-mit-herzinsuffizienz/ [Accessed 28/08/20]
- 34.Baldewijns K, Brunner-La Rocca H-P, de Maesschalck L, et al. 2019. Unravelling heart failure nurses' education: Content comparison of heart failure nurses' education in three European Society of Cardiology states and the Heart Failure Association heart failure curriculum. Eur J Cardiovasc Nurs 18(8): 711-19
- 35. Bundesärztekammer (BÄK), Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung (KBV), Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften (AWMF). NVL - Nationale Versorgungsleitlinien. Available from: https:// www.leitlinien.de/nvl/ [Accessed 01/09/20]
- 36. Bundesärztekammer (BÄK), Kassenärztliche Bundesvereinigung (KBV), Arbeitsgemeinschaft der Wissenschaftlichen Medizinischen Fachgesellschaften (AWMF). 2009. Nationale versorgungsleitlinie chronische herzinsuffizienz, Auflage 2009. Berlin: Ärztliches Zentrum für Qualität in der Medizin
- 37. Edelmann F, Knosalla C, Mörike K, et al. 2018. Chronic Heart Failure. Deutsches Arzteblatt International 115(8): 124-30

- 2017. 9 Gültigkeitsdauer/aktualisierung. Available from: https://www.leitlinien.de/ methodik/methodenreport/9-gueltigkeitsdaueraktualisierung [Accessed 15/07/20]
- 39. Seferović PM, Piepoli MF, Lopatin Y, et al. 2020. Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology Quality of Care Centres Programme: design and accreditation document. Eur J Heart Fail 22(5): 763-74
- 40.Deutsche Gesellschaft für Kardiologie. 2020. Zertifizierung als Heart Failure Unit (HFU) [Updated 18/06/20]. Available from: https://hfu. dgk.org/ [Accessed 19/06/20]
- 41. Gemeinsame Bundesausschuss. 2018. Qualitätsberichte der Krankenhäuser. Available from: https://www.g-ba.de/themen/ gualitaetssicherung/datenerhebung-zurqualitaetssicherung/datenerhebungqualitaetsbericht/ [Accessed 30/06/20]
- 42. Allgemeine Ortskrankenkasse. Was ist QISA? Available from: https://www.aokgesundheitspartner.de/bund/gisa/ueber_gisa/ index.html [Accessed 01/07/20]
- 43. Peters-Klimm F, Andres E. 2020. C8 herzinsuffizienz: Qualitätsindikatoren für die Versorgung von Patientinnen und Patienten mit Herzinsuffizienz. Berlin: AOK-Bundesverband & aQua - Institut für angewandte Qualitätsförderung und Forschung im Gesundheitswesen GmbH
- 44. Edel K, Kurscheid C, Degenhardt R. 2019. Fragebogen zur frühen Detektion von Herzinsuffizienz DeHiT (Deutscher Herzinsuffizienz-Test). Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/333644753_Fragebogen_zur_fruhen_ Detektion_von_Herzinsuffizienz_DeHiT_Deutscher_ Herzinsuffizienz-Test [Accessed 01/09/20]
- 45. Novartis. Herzschwäche-Risiko: Ja oder nein? Machen Sie unseren Test! Available from: https:// www.ratgeber-herzinsuffizienz.de/erkennen/ online-test [Accessed 02/09/20]
- 46.Herz-Kreislauf-Zentrum. 2019. Datenschutzerklärung DeHiT-App. Available from: https://www.herz-kreislauf-zentrum.net/ nebennavigation/datenschutzerklaerung_dehit_ app.html [Accessed 16/11/20]
- 47. McDonagh TA, Blue L, Clark AL, et al. 2011. European Society of Cardiology Heart Failure Association standards for delivering heart failure care. Eur J Heart Fail 13(3): 235-41
- 48. Forstner J, Kunz A, Straßner C, et al. 2019. Improving continuity of patient care across sectors: study protocol of the process evaluation of a quasi-experimental multi-centre study regarding an admission and discharge model in Germany (VESPEERA). BMJ Open 9(11): e031245

- 49.Herz-Kreislauf-Zentrum. Kardiologie-Rehabilitation und Prävention: Medizinische Schwerpunkte. Available from: https://www. herz-kreislauf-zentrum.net/kardiologie_ rehabilitation_und_praevention/medizinische_ schwerpunkte/medizinische_schwerpunkte. html [Accessed 02/09/20]
- 50. Ziehm J, Farin E, Schäfer J, *et al.* 2016. Palliative care for patients with heart failure: facilitators and barriers - a cross sectional survey of German health care professionals. *BMC Health Serv Res* 16(a): 361-61
- 51. Ziehm J, Farin E, Seibel K, *et al.* 2016. Health care professionals' attitudes regarding palliative care for patients with chronic heart failure: an interview study. *BMC Palliat Care* 15(1): 76
- 52. Köhler F, Koehler K, Deckwart O, et al. 2018. Efficacy of telemedical interventional management in patients with heart failure (TIM-HF2): a randomised, controlled, parallel-group, unmasked trial. *The Lancet* 392(10152): 1047-57
- 53. Telemed5000. 2019. Telemed5000: Mit künstlicher Intelligenz die Kapazitäten der Telemedizin erhöhen. Available from: https:// www.telemed5000.de/telemed5000-mitkuenstlicher-intelligenz-die-kapazitaeten-dertelemedizin-erhoehen/ [Accessed 02/09/20]

- 54. Köhler F, Prescher S, Köhler K. 2019. Telemedizin bei Herzinsuffizienz. Internist (Berl) 60(4): 331-38
- 55. Störk S, Kavoliuniene A, Vinereanu D, *et al.* 2016. What does the lay public know about heart failure? Findings from the Heart Failure Awareness Day Initiative. *Eur J Heart Fail* 18(1): 66-70
- 56. Universitätsklinikum Würzburg. Comprehensive Heart Failure Center (CHFC): outpatient treatment. Available from: https://www.ukw.de/ clinical-profile-centers/comprehensive-heartfailure-center-chfc/diagnosis-and-treatment/ [Accessed 13/07/20]
- 57. Güder G, Störk S, Gelbrich G, et al. 2015. Nursecoordinated collaborative disease management improves the quality of guideline-recommended heart failure therapy, patient-reported outcomes, and left ventricular remodelling. *Eur J Heart Fail* 17(4): 442-52
- 58. Angermann CE, Störk S, Gelbrich G, et al. 2012. Mode of Action and Effects of Standardized Collaborative Disease Management on Mortality and Morbidity in Patients With Systolic Heart Failure. Circ Heart Fail 5(1): 25-35





To find out more about the Heart Failure Policy Network and this work, go to **www.hfpolicynetwork.org**

If you have any comments or questions, please get in touch with the authors at **info@hfpolicynetwork.org**

© 2020 The Health Policy Partnership Ltd. This report may be used for personal, research or educational use only, and may not be used for commercial purposes. Any adaptation or modification of the content of this report is prohibited, unless permission has been granted by The Health Policy Partnership.